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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

UNITED  STATES  OF  AMERICA  
U.S.  Department  of  Justice  
Antitrust  Division  
450  5th  St.  NW  
Washington,  DC  20530,  

Plaintiff 

v. 

KKR & CO. INC. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR & CO. GP LLC 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KOHLBERG KRAVIS ROBERTS & CO. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR AMERICAS FUND XII L.P. 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR AMERICAS FUND XII (KESTREL) L.P. 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR AMERICAS FUND XII (THRIVE) L.P. 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR APPLE AGGREGATOR L.P. 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

Case No.: 1:25-cv-343 



 

 

      
   

     
 

      
       
   

     
 

      
       
   

     
 

       
       
   

     
 

      
       
   

     
 

   
      

       
   

     
  

      
       
   

     
 

 
 

     
       
   

    
 
                                      
 

Case 1:25-cv-00343 Document 1 Filed 01/14/25 Page 2 of 43 

KKR CHORD IP AGGREGATOR L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR CORE HOLDING COMPANY LLC 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR CORE II HOLDING COMPANY LLC 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR DCIF LOWER ENTITY III SCSP 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR GLOBAL IMPACT FUND SCSP 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR GLOBAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
INVESTORS IV USD (APPLE) L.P. 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

KKR NORTH AMERICA FUND XIII SCSP 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

and 

KKR OBSIDIAN AGGREGATOR LP 
c/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 
30 Hudson Yards 
New York, NY 10001, 

Defendants. 
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COMPLAINT 

Defendant KKR & Co. Inc. and its co-defendant investment advisors and funds 

(collectively “KKR”) are in the business of buying and selling companies, often completing over 

a dozen transactions each year. Many of those transactions are subject to the Hart-Scott-Rodino 

Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (“HSR Act”) and its implementing rules, which require 

parties to transactions above a certain size to submit a premerger filing to the Department of 

Justice’s Antitrust Division and the Federal Trade Commission. As one of the oldest, largest, and 

most-sophisticated private equity firms in the United States, KKR and its executives have for 

nearly five decades been subject to the HSR Act and its requirement to provide information and 

documents to the federal antitrust agencies, certify their accuracy, and observe the statutory 

waiting period before completing transactions. 

Rather than comply with the law, and despite repeated sworn certifications of its 

compliance, KKR and its executives systematically flouted the requirements of the HSR Act. 

Just since 2021 KKR was required to make more than 100 premerger filings under the HSR Act. 

But over the course of only two years—2021 and 2022—KKR failed to make complete and 

accurate premerger filings at least 16 separate times. Sometimes KKR failed to include required 

business documents such as those that assessed competition in markets impacted by the deal, 

including documents that had already been circulated to its partners and investment committees, 

despite certifying it had done so. In at least one instance, KKR failed to correct a deficient filing 

to include documents that its outside counsel had in their possession, even after its outside 

counsel relayed the Antitrust Division’s inquiries about potentially omitted documents. 

Sometimes KKR’s executives and employees ordered or made alterations to the business 

documents filed including in some instances information about the competitive implications of 
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the proposed transaction. And, for at least two transactions, KKR failed to make any pre-

consummation filings at all. 

If anything, the 16 violations identified thus far may understate the scope of KKR’s 

noncompliance with the HSR Act. The words of KKR’s own employees suggest a culture of 

noncompliance with the Act that pervades its investment businesses. One KKR partner explicitly 

instructed a subordinate to “revise [a chart] for HSR purposes,” and the subordinate followed 

that instruction by deleting material relating to “Competitive Behavior” in a presentation deck 

analyzing KKR’s contemplated acquisition. Yet another time, a KKR employee who omitted and 

altered multiple documents from an HSR Act filing described KKR’s approach to its premerger 

filing obligations: “I’ve always been told less is more .” In response, a more senior executive 

replied, “I believe in less is more too….” KKR’s systematic violations of the HSR Act stem from 

a failure by its executives and outside counsel to take the steps needed to ensure that KKR and its 

affiliates complied with the law. 

KKR repeatedly evaded legally-mandated scrutiny of its investment business, which 

allowed it to close potentially anticompetitive transactions without proper review by the antitrust 

agencies, review that should have been informed by relevant documents and information. By 

flouting the Act’s filing requirements, KKR has impeded the federal antitrust agencies’ 

opportunities to evaluate the potential anticompetitive effects of KKR’s transactions before they 

were completed. 

Congress understood that for enforcement against anticompetitive mergers to be most 

effective, the Antitrust Division and FTC needed specific information and the opportunity to act 

before the transaction was complete. And Congress recognized not only the importance of the 

merging company making the required filings and providing the required information, but the 
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importance of that information being timely. Accordingly, Congress authorized steep civil 

penalties for a company in violation of the Act, penalties that currently stand at more than 

$50,000 per day per violation. KKR’s serial violations are unusual, expansive, and long-running. 

Cumulatively, it has been in violation of the HSR Act for more than ten thousand days since 

early 2021, taking into account each of the 16 separate violations of which the United States is 

aware. 

The United States brings this civil action to obtain the substantial civil penalties 

authorized by the Act, and to obtain other equitable relief from KKR to alleviate the harms from 

its serial violations of the HSR Act and to prevent their recurrence. 

The United States alleges as follows: 

I. PREMERGER FILINGS REQUIRED BY THE HART-SCOTT-RODINO ACT 
AND THE HSR ACT RULES 

1. The HSR Act’s premerger notification and reporting requirements are essential to 

the integrity of the U.S. antitrust enforcement framework affecting mergers and acquisitions. 

2. Today, the vast majority of antitrust enforcement actions affecting mergers and 

acquisitions falls under Section 7 of the Clayton Act, which prohibits any transaction where, in 

any relevant market, “the effect of such acquisition may be substantially to lessen competition, or 

to tend to create a monopoly.” 15 U.S.C. § 18. Section 7 “is intended to halt monopolies and 

restraints of trade in their initial stages, before they ripen into full-scale Sherman Act violations.” 

H.R. Rep. 94-1373, at 5 (1976). 

3. After Section 7’s enactment, however, the antitrust agencies rarely had the chance 

to sue to block illegal mergers before they were consummated and therefore often could not 

prevent serious harm to competition from occurring. In 1976, therefore, Congress passed the 

HSR Act, Section 7A of the Clayton Act, to further strengthen antitrust enforcement by giving 

3 



 

  

  

  

  

 

   

   

    

 

  

   

 

    

     

 

      

   

  

 

Case 1:25-cv-00343 Document 1 Filed 01/14/25 Page 6 of 43 

the antitrust agencies the chance to move to block transactions before they were complete. 

Specifically, the HSR Act prohibits any company from carrying out a transaction over a certain 

size, with certain limited exceptions, unless the company notifies the antitrust agencies of the 

transaction and generally waits at least 30 days before the transaction is consummated. 15 U.S.C. 

§ 18a(a), (b). 

4. Although it is not a substitute for post-complaint discovery under the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure, the HSR Act’s waiting period is designed to give the antitrust agencies 

the opportunity to meaningfully investigate whether a transaction may violate the antitrust laws 

before parties consummate the transaction and, if necessary, to seek an injunction. As Congress 

made clear, the agencies need “a fair and reasonable opportunity to detect and investigate large 

mergers of questionable legality before they are consummated,” H.R. Rep. 94-1373, at 5 (1976), 

and this pre-consummation review is “essential in order to carry out the underlying purpose of 

section 7.” S. Rep. 94-803, at 64-65 (1976). 

5. The HSR Act, unlike Section 7 of the Clayton Act, does not proscribe 

anticompetitive conduct. Parties to transactions covered by the HSR Act must abide by its 

requirements regardless of whether the transaction, if consummated, would be unlawful. 

6. The HSR Act authorizes the FTC, with concurrence from the Antitrust Division, 

to promulgate rules that require the premerger filing notification “be in such form and contain 

such documentary material and information relevant to a proposed acquisition as is necessary 

and appropriate” to determine whether such acquisition, if consummated, may violate the 

antitrust laws. 15 U.S.C. § 18a(d)(1). The FTC also is authorized to define the terms used in the 

HSR Act and establish other rules that are necessary and appropriate to carry out the purposes of 

the notification and waiting period provisions. 15 U.S.C. § 18a(d)(2). The FTC first promulgated 
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the HSR Act Rules in 1978 to carry out the purposes of the HSR Act and has periodically 

updated them since. 16 C.F.R. §§ 801–803. These HSR Act Rules require that the notification be 

provided to the antitrust agencies in accordance with a Notification and Report Form (“HSR 

Form” or “Form”) that is made a part of the Rules. 16 C.F.R. § 803.1 and appendix to 16 C.F.R. 

Part 803. The FTC adjusts the HSR Act’s jurisdictional thresholds annually, based on changes in 

gross national product. Currently, only certain transactions valued at more than $119.5 million 

are subject to the HSR Act. 89 Fed. Reg. 7708 (Mar. 6, 2024). 

7. The instructions to the HSR Form, contained in the appendix to 16 C.F.R. Part 

803, require parties to the transaction to submit with their premerger filings certain business 

documents prepared by or for officers and directors that help illuminate how the proposed 

transaction may affect competition. These are often referred to as “Item 4” documents after the 

portions of the HSR Form that call for them. Item 4(c) of the Form requires parties to “[p]rovide 

all studies, surveys, analyses, and reports which were prepared . . . for the purpose of evaluating 

or analyzing the acquisition with respect to market shares, competition, competitors, markets, 

potential for sales growth or expansion into product or geographic markets.” Item 4(d) of the 

Form requires parties to provide “all Confidential Information Memoranda”; “all studies, 

surveys, analyses and reports prepared by [third party advisors such as investment bankers] . . . 

for the purpose of evaluating or analyzing market shares, competition, competitors, markets, 

potential for sales growth, or expansion into product or geographic markets”; and “all studies, 

surveys, analyses and reports evaluating or analyzing synergies and/or efficiencies.” 

8. These documents provide information about the merging companies’ own 

evaluations of competition in the markets likely to be affected by the proposed transaction. These 

documents also provide unique insight into the viewpoints of the merging parties and are 

5 



   

 

  

   

 

    

 

 

 

 

   

   

   

  

    

  

   

  

Case 1:25-cv-00343 Document 1 Filed 01/14/25 Page 8 of 43 

indispensable to the antitrust agencies’ evaluation of potential competitive effects of proposed 

transactions. As such, documents called for by Item 4 of the HSR Form are some of the most 

important documents that merging companies must submit to the antitrust agencies. 

9. If a party to a transaction does not provide all the information and documents 

required by the HSR Form, including not providing documents called for by Item 4, then it must 

provide “a statement of reasons for such noncompliance.” 15 U.S.C. § 18a(b)(1). Section 803.3 

of the HSR Act Rules details the information that should be included within each statement of 

noncompliance. The purpose of the statement is to provide the antitrust agencies with sufficient 

information so that they can assess whether information was withheld lawfully. 

10. The HSR Act’s waiting period does not begin until both parties have provided 

complete notifications, commonly known as “HSR filings,” to the antitrust agencies. Therefore, 

the HSR Act Rules require an officer, director, or general partner of each filing party to certify, 

under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States, that the HSR Form and 

accompanying documents were “prepared and assembled under [his/her] supervision” in 

accordance with instructions issued by the FTC, and that “the information is, to the best of 

[his/her] knowledge, true, correct, and complete” in accordance with the HSR Act and the HSR 

Act Rules. 16 C.F.R. § 803.6(a) and appendix to 16 C.F.R. Part 803. 

11. This certification is not a rubber stamp. It is intended to place upon the individual 

who signs it the responsibility for supervising the filing company’s compliance with the HSR 

Act and ultimately determining that, to the best of that individual’s knowledge, the information 

provided is true, correct, and complete in accordance with the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. 

It is also intended to estop the person on whose behalf the HSR Form is filed from later denying 

the completeness or accuracy of the information contained in it. 
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12. Congress established significant daily penalties to ensure that companies 

complied with the HSR Act. A company that fails to comply with any of its notification 

provisions is liable to the United States for a civil penalty for each day it is in violation. 15 

U.S.C. § 18a(g)(1). Originally set at $10,000 per day in 1976, the maximum amount of the civil 

penalty now sits at $51,744 per day. Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act 

Improvements Act of 2015, Pub. L. 114-74 § 701 (further amending the Federal Civil Penalties 

Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461 note), and 16 C.F.R. § 1.98(a). These civil 

penalties apply without regard to whether the underlying transaction itself also violates the 

antitrust laws. In addition, Congress further authorized courts to provide such other equitable 

relief as is necessary or appropriate. 15 U.S.C. § 18a(g)(2)(C). 

II. KKR’S ILLEGAL CONDUCT 

13. KKR repeatedly violated the HSR Act through conduct that pervaded deal teams, 

senior executives, and investment funds across the company. Despite routinely certifying its 

compliance with the HSR Act and HSR Act Rules and purporting to submit complete HSR 

filings, KKR and its executives failed to meet their obligations under the law. Sometimes, KKR 

failed to turn over, as required by Item 4 of the HSR Form, business documents reflecting market 

shares, competitive analysis, and other types of assessments that help illuminate the competitive 

impact of a transaction. KKR omitted required documents from its HSR filings for at least ten 

deals. For at least eight transactions, KKR altered documents before submitting them to the 

antitrust agencies, including in some instances information about the competitive implications of 

the proposed transaction. And, at least twice, KKR failed to make any premerger HSR filings at 

all before consummating a qualifying transaction.  
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A. KKR Systematically Omitted Item 4 Documents, Including in at Least Ten 
Transactions 

14. In March 2022, KKR attempted to acquire a company called TalentNeuron, a 

leading labor market analytics provider, in a transaction valued at $300 million. KKR’s HSR 

filing for TalentNeuron included only two Item 4 documents. The Antitrust Division notified 

KKR that it was opening a preliminary investigation into the proposed acquisition and 

highlighted the paucity of Item 4 documents. In April 2022, KKR withdrew and refiled its HSR 

filing to extend the HSR premerger review period. The HSR Act Rules required KKR to include 

any new Item 4 documents with its refiling. 16 C.F.R. § 803.12(c). KKR included two additional 

Item 4 documents with its refiling, including an Investment Committee report that predated the 

first filing date and plainly should have been submitted in the first instance.  

15. KKR prepared the Investment Committee report as it considered whether to 

acquire TalentNeuron. The report gave detailed information about the competitive implications 

of the proposed transaction that was relevant to the Antitrust Division’s premerger review. In 

particular, the report analyzed the commercial benefits to KKR of acquiring TalentNeuron and 

merging it with Emsi Burning Glass, a company that KKR had created through a series of earlier 

acquisitions of labor market analytics companies. Emsi Burning Glass was also TalentNeuron’s 

most significant competitor at the time. The Investment Committee report was shared with 

officers and directors of KKR a few days before KKR first made its HSR filing for the proposed 

acquisition, and drafts of this document also were shared with KKR’s outside antitrust counsel 

for review. On the day of KKR’s original HSR filing, this document was presented to the 

Investment Committee—a group that included the certifier of the HSR filing—immediately 

before this individual signed the certification attesting that the filing was complete. Nonetheless, 

KKR omitted this document from its HSR filing. 
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16. In response to a subsequent subpoena, KKR later produced three additional 

documents that had been omitted from the original TalentNeuron HSR filing. KKR blamed its 

deficient filing, in part, on alleged misunderstandings and oversight by its outside antitrust 

counsel. Amid further investigation by the Antitrust Division, KKR abandoned the TalentNeuron 

transaction. 

17. As described in further detail below, see paragraphs 66–85 and 106–135, there are 

at least nine other HSR filings, in addition to TalentNeuron, in which KKR certified that it had 

complied with the HSR Act and Rules but failed to submit required Item 4 documents with its 

HSR filing: Emsi (HSR filing nos. 2021-1932; 2023-1045), Lynx (HSR filing no. 2022-0079), 

Ross (HSR filing no. 2022-0996), OutSystems (HSR filing nos. 2022-2539; 2022-3060), 

Barracuda (HSR filing no. 2022-2108), Therapy Brands (HSR filing no. 2021-1693), Equus I 

(HSR filing no. 2022-2600), Equus II (HSR filing no. 2022-3141), and Minnesota Rubber (HSR 

filing no. 2022-2952). These incomplete HSR filings were prepared by multiple KKR deal team 

members, certified by senior executives in different investment funds across the company, and 

submitted by several different outside law firms on behalf of KKR. 

18. In many cases, KKR included in these HSR filings a very small number of Item 4 

documents and, only in response to the Antitrust Division’s investigation, including subpoenas 

for documents and testimony, did KKR eventually identify more Item 4 documents—and 

sometimes many more—that KKR omitted from its HSR filings. 

19. The omission of documents from these KKR HSR filings resulted from 

widespread failures within KKR to meet its obligations under the HSR Act. For example, in 

response to a request from KKR’s antitrust counsel to collect Item 4 documents for the HSR 

filing for KKR’s acquisition of OutSystems, one KKR deal team member described to a 
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colleague her approach to these requests: “I’ve always been told less is more .” Her 

colleague—a senior executive at KKR—replied “I believe in less is more too . . . .” In 

connection with another HSR filing, this time for KKR’s acquisition of Ross, a KKR deal team 

member initially sent some deal documents to a KKR executive and said he intended to send 

them to antitrust counsel to add to the HSR filing for the transaction. The KKR executive told the 

deal team member that he “would not include” certain of those documents in the email to 

antitrust counsel for the HSR filing, and the KKR deal team member agreed: “sounds 

good . . . think you are right.” KKR has declined to produce these documents to the Antitrust 

Division citing privilege, even though these documents were withheld from KKR’s own outside 

antitrust counsel.  

B. For at Least Eight Transactions, KKR Altered Documents Before Submitting 
Them to the Antitrust Division 

20. The HSR Act Rules require a merging party to submit true, complete, and correct 

copies of all responsive documents and then certify that it has done so. But in some cases, KKR 

employees altered those documents to delete relevant information in ways that limited the ability 

of the antitrust agencies to accurately assess the antitrust implications of KKR’s proposed 

transactions. These alterations took place after KKR employees had shared them with KKR’s 

officers and directors but before KKR submitted them as part of its HSR filings. 

21. As described in greater detail below, see paragraphs 66–105, in connection with at 

least eight separate transactions in 2021–2022, KKR altered language in Item 4 documents 

before submitting them to the antitrust agencies as part of the associated HSR filings: Emsi (HSR 

filing nos. 2021-1932; 2023-1045), Lynx (HSR filing no. 2022-0079), Ross (HSR filing no. 

2022-0996), OutSystems (HSR filing nos. 2022-2539; 2022-3060), ERM (HSR filing no. 2021-

2211), Kobalt Music (HSR filing no. 2021-3222), John Laing (HSR filing no. 2021-2229), and 
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Neighborly (HSR filing no. 2021-2624). In at least four of those instances, KKR both omitted 

Item 4 documents and altered what Item 4 documents it did submit. KKR employees across 

different investment funds and deal teams altered these documents. Five of the eight affected 

HSR filings included one altered document each, two included two altered documents each, and 

one included four altered documents. 

22. KKR altered documents even after it became aware of the Antitrust Division’s 

investigation into its HSR Act compliance. KKR made its original HSR filing in connection with 

the OutSystems acquisition several months after the Antitrust Division’s investigation began. 

Nevertheless, KKR made that filing—and certified compliance with the HSR Act and Rules— 

while omitting multiple Item 4 documents and submitting two others that had been altered. Three 

months later, KKR submitted a corrective HSR filing and included the omitted Item 4 documents 

but still included the altered documents, and then certified its compliance again. Finally, over a 

year later—more than fifteen months after it had originally purported to comply with the HSR 

Act, KKR admitted that two Item 4 documents submitted in both earlier HSR filings had been 

altered prior to their submission. 

23. KKR’s document alterations in these eight HSR filings included deal materials 

prepared for KKR executives, such as partner or Investment Committee reports, that discussed 

key considerations by KKR in analyzing potential transactions. At times, KKR’s alterations were 

extensive. For example, for the ERM Transaction, KKR deleted 40 out of 48 pages of one Item 4 

document, and 25 out of 42 pages of another, before submitting the HSR filing and certifying 

compliance with the statute and Rules. These document alterations were not inadvertent or 

accidental; rather, KKR deal teams deliberately altered these documents before they were 

submitted in HSR filings. 
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C. For at Least Two Different Transactions, KKR Failed to Properly Notify a 
Merger or Acquisition at All 

24. KKR’s HSR Act violations go beyond failing to submit or altering Item 4 

documents called for by the HSR Form. KKR violated the HSR Act twice by failing to make 

premerger HSR filings for at least two qualifying transactions. 

25. In December 2021, KKR admitted to the FTC that it did not make premerger HSR 

filings before closing two acquisitions, Applovin and Adjust. When it submitted corrective 

filings more than seven months after it had completed those transactions, KKR assured the FTC 

these failures to file were merely “inadvertent[]” and “exceptional,” resulting from “an unusual 

and unanticipated set of circumstances,” and inconsistent with its “internal policies and 

procedures in place to ensure compliance with HSR.” But in fact, KKR’s failures to comply with 

the HSR Act requirements for the Applovin or Adjust acquisitions were not “exceptional”—they 

were of a piece with at least 14 other HSR Act violations committed before, during, and after the 

failures it admitted to with regard to Applovin and Adjust. 

D. KKR’s HSR Act Violations Are Systemic 

26. For years, KKR failed to maintain sufficient controls over its HSR filing practices 

and otherwise ensure full compliance with the HSR Act. For example, KKR provided inadequate 

training to employees involved in collecting responsive documents and certifying HSR filings. 

At times, KKR deal teams failed to search the files of certain directors or officers for relevant 

Item 4 documents in preparing HSR filings. And at times, KKR’s senior executives who were 

responsible for certifying under penalty of perjury that each HSR filing was true, correct, and 

complete and prepared under that executive’s supervision failed to review complete and final 

versions of the filings prior to signing the certifications. 

12 
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27. Although KKR engaged law firms with significant antitrust experience to assist 

with its HSR filings, it retained ultimate responsibility for the collection of responsive documents 

and information for, and certified the adequacy of, each HSR filing. 

28. Moreover, even when KKR provided its outside counsel with materials that 

unambiguously should have been included in an HSR filing—and those responsive materials 

were not in fact submitted to the antitrust agencies—KKR nonetheless signed the HSR 

certification and authorized a deficient filing. In at least one instance, KKR did not submit a 

corrective HSR filing even after its outside counsel relayed to the KKR deal team direct inquiries 

by the Antitrust Division about potentially omitted documents. Strikingly, there, outside counsel 

told KKR deal team members that the law firm had in its possession at least one omitted 

document that it continued to withhold from the Antitrust Division, with KKR’s assent, 

notwithstanding these direct inquiries. 

29. KKR’s systemic failure to meet its obligations under the HSR Act contributed to 

at least 16 violations since 2021. The actual number of HSR Act violations to be uncovered 

during discovery is likely higher. 

III. KKR’S ILLEGAL CONDUCT THREATENS THE INTEGRITY OF THE U.S. 
PREMERGER REVIEW SYSTEM 

30. While an HSR Act violation may be found regardless of whether the underlying 

transaction ultimately violates Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18, KKR’s misconduct 

highlights the potential anticompetitive harm the public bears when companies circumvent the 

HSR Act’s requirements and close potentially anticompetitive transactions without proper 

premerger review. 

31. In at least two instances, KKR closed potentially anticompetitive transactions 

after submitting HSR filings that omitted and altered documents that were required to be 
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submitted to the antitrust agencies. Both transactions were part of KKR strategies to “roll up” 

companies through serial acquisitions of a KKR portfolio company’s competitors. In each case, 

KKR omitted and altered required documents about the affected markets that would have 

informed the Antitrust Division’s review of the potential competitive effects of the acquisitions. 

The omissions and alterations of these documents from KKR’s HSR filings allowed it to 

consummate the acquisitions without the requisite antitrust scrutiny by the Antitrust Division. 

KKR benefited from these violations of the HSR Act, generating millions of dollars in revenues, 

while leaving the public in the affected markets to bear the risks of consolidation and reduced 

competition as a result of the transactions. 

32. In 2021, KKR acquired Emsi, a labor market analytics company, for 

approximately $350 million. As part of its HSR filing, KKR submitted only two Item 4 

documents, while omitting 28 documents that should have been submitted at the time. The 

omitted documents contained essential information about competition between Emsi and a KKR 

portfolio company called Burning Glass, a leading competitor to Emsi and one of very few 

meaningful alternatives available to customers at the time. 

33. The omitted documents included statements related to potential post-merger price 

increases as a result of a reduction in competition from KKR acquiring Emsi and merging it with 

Burning Glass. The omitted documents also described the competitive landscape as a “two-

player market,” consisting of Emsi and Burning Glass, and characterized Emsi as the “biggest” 

and “closest and most formidable competitor” to Burning Glass. KKR’s sanitized HSR filing hid 

KKR’s expectation that the planned merger of Emsi and Burning Glass would be “the killer 

combination” and provide KKR with an “opportunity to . . . create the undisputed category 

leader” and a “scaled category killer” in the market. 
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34. In April 2023, KKR submitted a corrective HSR filing for the Emsi transaction to 

include these omitted documents—almost two years after closing the deal. But even the 

corrective HSR filing was not complete, despite KKR’s second certification that it was. In 

August 2023, KKR admitted that both its original HSR filing for Emsi in 2021 and its refiling in 

2023 included one Item 4 document that KKR altered before submitting it to the antitrust 

agencies. While reviewing deal documents related to the planned Emsi acquisition in April 2021, 

a KKR partner instructed a deal team member to edit a portion of an Investment Committee 

report in advance of the HSR review process by circling the “Competitive Behavior” section of a 

diligence chart and writing “[need to revise for HSR purposes]” in the document: 

35. Thereafter, the KKR deal team member did not merely revise the “Competitive 

Behavior” section but deleted this row entirely from an earlier version of the document—one that 

had already been presented to the Investment Committee in March 2021—before submitting the 

altered document to the Antitrust Division with KKR’s HSR filing for Emsi. 

36. The full impact of KKR’s acquisition of Emsi, and the resulting elimination of 

head-to-head competition between Emsi and Burning Glass, came to light two years after the 

transaction closed and during the Antitrust Division’s investigation of KKR’s HSR Act 

violations. At that time, the Antitrust Division opened a merger investigation into KKR’s then-
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consummated acquisition of Emsi, issuing compulsory process to both KKR and Emsi’s former 

owner. The merger of Emsi and Burning Glass raised competition concerns about the 

combination of two leading providers of labor market analytics, potentially resulting in higher 

prices, fewer choices, and less innovation. As explained in a pricing strategy document 

uncovered during the post-consummation merger investigation, the Emsi/Burning Glass merger 

“eliminated a competitor . . . and because of that, [there is] less leverage to drop in price, and 

more reason to increase.” KKR acknowledged this intended effect of the Emsi/Burning Glass 

merger, hiring a consultant to perform a pricing study shortly after acquiring Emsi to 

“understand [the] competitive situation after [the] merger.” This pricing study recommended an 

average price increase of about 20% across customer types and attributed that increase in part to 

“decreased competitive intensity.” Thereafter, the merged Emsi/Burning Glass company adopted 

a strategy of increasing prices. 

37. KKR’s HSR Act violations with respect to Lynx also disguised a potentially 

anticompetitive merger involving services provided to general aviation customers. In 2021, KKR 

acquired Lynx, a fixed-base operator that provides fuel and other services to general aviation 

customers, for about $425 million. KKR launched its strategy to roll up fixed-base operators 

earlier in 2021 by first acquiring Atlantic Aviation, a company that operated a large network of 

fixed-base operators throughout the United States, for $3.5 billion. In 2021, KKR then sought to 

acquire Lynx, Atlantic Aviation’s competitor. KKR submitted only five documents in its HSR 

filing for Lynx, while omitting another 29 documents that should have been submitted at the 

time. KKR also deleted five pages of one of the Lynx Item 4 documents that discussed the 

planned follow-on acquisition of a third fixed-base operator, Ross, and then submitted the same 
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altered document twice: first, as an Item 4 document with its Lynx HSR filing, and then again, 

the same altered document as an Item 4 document with its Ross HSR filing. 

38. As with Emsi, the omitted Item 4 documents for Lynx included important 

information related to competition—this time about different regional markets where KKR 

planned to benefit from merging Lynx with Atlantic Aviation’s network of fixed-base operators. 

In these omitted documents, KKR also observed that merging Lynx with Atlantic Aviation 

would give KKR ownership of the fixed-base operators at “sister pairs” of airports—that is, two 

airports located near one another in the same metropolitan area—in both Pittsburgh, 

Pennsylvania, and Portland, Oregon. In Pittsburgh, Atlantic Aviation was the sole fixed-base 

operator at Pittsburgh International Airport (PIT), and Lynx was the sole fixed-base operator at 

nearby Allegheny County Airport (AGC). In Portland, Atlantic Aviation was the sole fixed-base 

operator at Portland International Airport (PDX), and Lynx was one of two fixed-base operators 

at nearby Aurora State Airport (UAO). KKR explained in the omitted documents that combining 

the PIT/AGC sister pair in Pittsburgh, and combining the PDX/UAO sister pair in Portland, 

“could be strategically complementary, especially for [KKR’s] pricing initiative.” As a result, 

KKR concluded in the omitted documents that the combination of Lynx and Atlantic Aviation 

“will help increase rates” in the Pittsburgh region and “will help lift rates and prices” in the 

Portland region. 

39. With the closing of the Lynx acquisition, KKR took over a competitor and was in 

a position to enrich itself with expected anticompetitive benefits of the regional consolidation of 

the Atlantic Aviation and Lynx fixed-base operator networks through its combined ownership of 

both the PIT/AGC and PDX/UAO sister pairs. 
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IV. THE DEFENDANTS 

40. Defendant KKR & Co. Inc. (“KKR Parent”) is a corporation organized and 

existing under the laws of the state of Delaware with its principal place of business at 30 Hudson 

Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

41. Defendant KKR & Co. GP LLC (“KKR GP LLC”) is a limited liability company 

organized and existing under the laws of the state of Delaware with its principal place of 

business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

42. Defendant Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. (“Kohlberg Kravis Roberts”) is a 

limited partnership organized and existing under the laws of the state of Delaware with its 

principal place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

43. Defendants KKR Parent, KKR GP LLC, and Kohlberg Kravis Roberts are 

collectively referred to herein as the “KKR Investment Managers.” Defendant KKR Parent owns 

and controls Defendant KKR GP LLC. Defendant KKR GP LLC is the sole general partner of, 

and has sole control over, Defendant Kohlberg Kravis Roberts. Defendant Kohlberg Kravis 

Roberts is the parent company of Defendant KKR Parent’s global asset management business, 

which includes the remaining Defendants named below, and its employees were responsible for 

preparing the HSR filings at issue herein. 

44. Defendant KKR Americas Fund XII L.P. (“KKR Americas Fund”) is a limited 

partnership organized and existing under the laws of the Cayman Islands with its principal place 

of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

45. Defendant KKR Americas Fund XII (Kestrel) L.P. (“KKR Americas Fund 

Kestrel”) is a limited partnership organized and existing under the laws of the state of Delaware 

with its principal place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 
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46. Defendant KKR Americas Fund XII (Thrive) L.P. (“KKR Americas Fund 

Thrive”) is a limited partnership organized and existing under the laws of the state of Delaware 

with its principal place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

47. Defendant KKR Apple Aggregator L.P. (“KKR Apple Fund”) is a limited 

partnership organized and existing under the laws of the state of Delaware with its principal 

place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

48. Defendant KKR Chord IP Aggregator L.P. (“KKR Chord Fund”) is a limited 

partnership organized and existing under the laws of Ontario, Canada, with its principal place of 

business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

49. Defendant KKR Core Holding Company LLC (“KKR Core Fund”) is a limited 

liability company organized and existing under the laws of the state of Delaware with its 

principal place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

50. Defendant KKR Core II Holding Company LLC (“KKR Core II Fund”) is a 

limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the Cayman Islands with its 

principal place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

51. Defendant KKR DCIF Lower Entity III SCSp (“KKR DCIF Fund”) is a special 

limited partnership organized and existing under the laws of Luxembourg with its principal place 

of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

52. Defendant KKR Global Impact Fund SCSp (“KKR Global Impact Fund”) is a 

special limited partnership organized and existing under the laws of Luxembourg with its 

principal place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

53. Defendant KKR Global Infrastructure Investors IV USD (Apple) L.P. (“KKR 

Global Infrastructure Fund”) is a limited partnership organized and existing under the laws of 
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Ontario, Canada, with its principal place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 

10001. 

54. Defendant KKR North America Fund XIII SCSp (“KKR North America XIII 

Fund”) is a special limited partnership organized and existing under the laws of Luxembourg 

with its principal place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

55. Defendant KKR Obsidian Aggregator LP (“KKR Obsidian Fund”) is a limited 

partnership organized and existing under the laws of the state of Delaware with its principal 

place of business at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001. 

56. Defendants KKR Americas Fund, KKR Americas Fund Kestrel, KKR Americas 

Fund Thrive, KKR Apple Fund, KKR Chord Fund, KKR Core Fund, KKR Core II Fund, KKR 

DCIF Fund, KKR Global Impact Fund, KKR Global Infrastructure Fund, KKR North America 

XIII Fund, and KKR Obsidian Fund are collectively referred to herein as the “KKR Funds.” 

Each KKR Fund is owned and managed by the KKR Investment Managers. Each KKR Fund is 

its own ultimate parent entity within the meaning of the HSR Act and had its own obligation to 

comply with the notification and waiting period requirements of the HSR Act. 

57. KKR is a major global investment firm with over $500 billion in total assets under 

management. KKR’s asset management business includes a private equity segment operated by 

Kohlberg Kravis Roberts and other subsidiaries of KKR. KKR describes itself as a “world leader 

in private equity,” reporting over $176 billion of private equity assets under management as of 

December 31, 2023, including a private equity portfolio of over 130 companies headquartered in 

over 20 countries and operating in about 20 general industries, together generating about $285 

billion in annual revenues. 
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58. As part of its asset management business, KKR routinely engages in transactions 

that require notice under the HSR Act. Since 2021, KKR provided notice to the Antitrust 

Division and the FTC of over 100 proposed transactions under the HSR Act. In a December 

2021 letter to the FTC admitting to two failures to make premerger HSR Act filings, KKR touted 

its wealth of experience with the HSR Act requirements, emphasizing its involvement in “a large 

number of transactions (with numerous HSR filings every year),” its engagement of 

“experienced and highly qualified lead outside HSR counsel,” and its “internal policies and 

procedures in place to ensure compliance with HSR.” At that time, KKR assured the FTC that it 

“takes its HSR responsibilities extremely seriously, and substantial efforts ha[d] been dedicated 

to building a culture and system of compliance.” Contrary to these assurances, KKR disregarded 

the HSR Act’s requirements throughout its investments business. Since 2021, KKR repeatedly 

violated the HSR Act by failing to provide true, correct, and complete information to the 

Antitrust Division and the FTC in HSR filings for, at minimum, the 16 individual transactions 

identified herein (collectively, the “Transactions”). 

V. JURISDICTION 

59. The United States brings this action under the HSR Act to obtain monetary and 

equitable relief for the numerous violations of the HSR Act detailed herein. 

60. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action under Section 7A(g) of 

the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C § 18a(g), and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), 1345, and 

1355. 

61. Each Defendant is engaged in interstate commerce and in activities substantially 

affecting interstate commerce. KKR Parent, both directly and by and through the other named 

Defendants, provides asset management and insurance solutions throughout the United States. 
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Each Defendant is engaged in a regular, continuous, and substantial flow of interstate commerce, 

and its sales have had a substantial effect on interstate commerce. 

62. This Court has personal jurisdiction over each Defendant. Each Defendant 

transacts business within this district through, among other things, its presence at 30 Hudson 

Yards, New York, New York 10001, which is the address of record listed for the filing entity in 

each HSR filing made by the Defendants. 

VI. VENUE 

63. Venue is proper in this district under Section 12 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 22. Each Defendant transacts business within this district through, among other things, its 

presence at 30 Hudson Yards, New York, New York 10001, which is the address of record listed 

for the filing entity in each HSR filing made by the Defendants. 

VII. VIOLATIONS ALLEGED 

64. KKR has violated the HSR Act in connection with at least 16 transactions since 

2021. The violations stem from a variety of illegal conduct, including failing to provide required 

documents as a part of an HSR filing, altering required HSR filing documents, and failing to 

make required premerger HSR filings. The maximum statutory penalty for these 16 known HSR 

Act violations currently exceeds $650 million. 

65. The full extent of KKR’s HSR Act violations likely exceeds the violations 

identified and alleged herein based on the systemic nature of the failures of KKR’s HSR Act 

compliance. 

COUNT 1 
KKR’S FIRST VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: EMSI 

66. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

22 



 
 

             

   

            

               

                

                

               

             

           

                

             

              

                 

              

              

           

                

                

                

              

          

            

                 

Case 1:25-cv-00343 Document 1 Filed 01/14/25 Page 25 of 43 

67. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Global Impact Fund are Defendants to 

this Count 1. 

68. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Global Impact Fund, the Emsi Transaction, 

and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification pursuant to 

the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment Managers, KKR 

Global Impact Fund, and the other parties to the Emsi Transaction were required to submit HSR 

filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all required information, and to 

observe the statutory period before they could consummate the Emsi Transaction. The KKR 

Investment Managers and KKR Global Impact Fund violated the premerger notification 

requirements of the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR filing for the Emsi Transaction that 

both omitted responsive documents and contained a document altered prior to submission. 

69. On May 7, 2021, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an HSR 

filing on behalf of KKR Global Impact Fund in connection with its acquisition of Emsi, a labor 

market analytics company, for about $350 million (HSR filing no. 2021-1932). This HSR filing 

included two Item 4 documents. The Emsi acquisition closed on June 9, 2021. 

70. Further investigation revealed, and KKR Global Impact Fund later acknowledged, 

that KKR Global Impact Fund omitted required documents from this HSR filing and made a first 

corrective filing for Emsi on April 20, 2023. This corrective filing included 32 additional Item 4 

documents, 28 of which predated the original HSR filing date and should have been submitted in 

the first instance (HSR filing no. 2023-1045). The omitted documents related to analyses of 

head-to-head competition between Emsi and Burning Glass, product overlaps, customer 

interviews, post-merger strategic plans, pricing, and deal valuation. KKR Global Impact Fund 

made a second corrective filing for Emsi on August 15, 2023, to include the complete version of 
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one Item 4 document in the HSR filing that an employee altered prior to submission to delete 

text referencing competitive issues (HSR filing no. 2023-1045). 

COUNT 2 
KKR’S SECOND VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: LYNX 

71. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

72. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Apple Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 2. 

73. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Apple Fund, the Lynx Transaction, and the 

other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification pursuant to the HSR 

Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment Managers, KKR Apple Fund, 

and the other parties to the Lynx Transaction were required to submit HSR filings, certified by 

an officer, director, or general partner, with all required information, and to observe the statutory 

period before they could consummate the Lynx Transaction. The KKR Investment Managers and 

KKR Apple Fund violated the premerger notification requirements of the HSR Act by submitting 

a deficient HSR filing for the Lynx Transaction that both omitted responsive documents and 

contained a document altered prior to submission. 

74. On October 8, 2021, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an 

HSR filing on behalf of KKR Apple Fund for its acquisition of Lynx, a fixed-base operator 

providing fuel and other services to general aviation customers, for about $425 million (HSR 

filing no. 2022-0079). This HSR filing included five Item 4 documents. The Lynx acquisition 

closed on November 23, 2021. 

75. Further investigation later revealed that KKR Apple Fund omitted another 29 

documents that should also have been included in this HSR filing. The omitted documents 

included information related to analyses of pricing, market shares by location, local and regional 
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overlaps, and competitors. In addition, KKR Apple Fund deleted five pages containing 

information about competitive overlaps from one Item 4 document prior to submitting this 

document with its HSR filing. A complete unaltered version of this document was not produced 

to the Antitrust Division until November 2023. This HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as 

KKR Apple Fund has failed to file a corrective HSR filing for this Transaction to date. 

COUNT 3 
KKR’S THIRD VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: ROSS 

76. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

77. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Global Infrastructure Fund are 

Defendants to this Count 3. 

78. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Global Infrastructure Fund, the Ross 

Transaction, and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification 

pursuant to the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment 

Managers, KKR Global Infrastructure Fund, and the other parties to the Ross Transaction were 

required to submit HSR filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all 

required information, and to observe the statutory period before they could consummate the Ross 

Transaction. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Global Infrastructure Fund violated the 

premerger notification requirements of the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR filing for the 

Ross Transaction that both omitted responsive documents and contained a document altered prior 

to submission. 

79. On November 29, 2021, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted 

an HSR filing on behalf of KKR Global Infrastructure Fund for the proposed acquisition of Ross, 

a fixed-base operator providing fuel and other services to general aviation customers, for over 
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$919 million (HSR filing no. 2022-0996). This HSR filing included 11 Item 4 documents. The 

Ross acquisition closed on May 27, 2022. 

80. Further investigation later revealed that KKR Global Infrastructure Fund omitted 

another 12 documents that should also have been included in this HSR filing. The omitted 

documents contained analyses of the competitive impact of the Ross acquisition, post-merger 

strategic plans, synergies, industry consolidation, top customers, and market shares by location. 

In addition, KKR Global Infrastructure Fund deleted five pages containing competitive 

information from one Item 4 document prior to submitting this document with its HSR filing. A 

complete unaltered version of this document was not produced to the Antitrust Division until 

November 2023. This HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as KKR Global Infrastructure Fund 

has failed to file a corrective HSR filing for this Transaction to date. 

COUNT 4 
KKR’S FOURTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: OUTSYSTEMS 

81. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

82. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR North America Fund XIII are 

Defendants to this Count 4. 

83. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR North America Fund XIII, the OutSystems 

Transaction, and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification 

pursuant to the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment 

Managers, KKR North America Fund XIII, and the other parties to the OutSystems Transaction 

were required to submit HSR filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all 

required information, and to observe the statutory period before they could consummate the 

OutSystems Transaction. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR North America Fund XIII 

violated the premerger notification requirements of the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR 
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filing for the OutSystems Transaction that both omitted responsive documents and contained 

documents altered prior to submission. 

84. On June 24, 2022, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an 

HSR filing on behalf of KKR North America Fund XIII for the proposed acquisition of 

OutSystems, an omnichannel enterprise applications tool provider, for between $202 and $779 

million (HSR filing no. 2022-2539). KKR North America Fund XIII submitted eight Item 4 

documents with its HSR filing but subsequently submitted a corrective filing on September 19, 

2022, with an additional 15 documents, including eight of which predated the original filing date 

and should have been submitted in the first instance. The omitted documents contained analyses 

of competitive positioning, post-merger strategic plans, market landscape and competitive 

dynamics, detailed customer surveys, and a market study. The OutSystems acquisition closed on 

October 19, 2022. 

85. Further investigation revealed that, even then, though, the corrective filing was 

not complete, as KKR North America Fund XIII later acknowledged that it had altered two Item 

4 documents included in both the original and corrective HSR filings for OutSystems prior to 

submission to delete six pages from one document, and seven pages from the other. The deleted 

pages included information related to competitive positioning, customer surveys, and market 

landscape. Complete unaltered versions of these documents were not produced to the Antitrust 

Division until November 2023. This HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as KKR North 

America Fund XIII has failed to file a corrective HSR filing for this Transaction to date. 

COUNT 5 
KKR’S FIFTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: ERM 

86. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 
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87. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Core Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 5. 

88. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Core Fund, the ERM Transaction, and the 

other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification pursuant to the HSR 

Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment Managers, KKR Core Fund, 

and the other parties to the ERM Transaction were required to submit HSR filings, certified by 

an officer, director, or general partner, with all required information, and to observe the statutory 

period before they could consummate the ERM Transaction. The KKR Investment Managers and 

KKR Core Fund violated the premerger notification requirements of the HSR Act by submitting 

a deficient HSR filing for the ERM Transaction that contained documents altered prior to 

submission. 

89. On June 1, 2021, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an HSR 

filing on behalf of KKR Core Fund for the proposed acquisition of ERM, a provider of 

environmental, health, safety, risk, and social consulting services, for about $3 billion (HSR 

filing no. 2021-2211). The ERM acquisition closed on October 13, 2021. 

90. Further investigation later revealed that KKR Core Fund deleted a total of 70 

pages across four separate Item 4 documents prior to submitting these documents with this HSR 

filing, including one document with 40 out of 48 pages deleted and another document with 25 

out of 42 pages deleted. The deleted pages included information related to analyses of 

competitors, market shares, barriers to entry, market projections, pricing, and post-merger plans. 

Complete unaltered versions of these documents were not produced to the Antitrust Division 

until November 2023. This HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as KKR Core Fund has failed to 

file a corrective HSR filing for this Transaction to date. 
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COUNT 6 
KKR’S SIXTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: KOBALT MUSIC 

91. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

92. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Chord Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 6. 

93. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Chord Fund, the Kobalt Music 

Transaction, and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification 

pursuant to the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment 

Managers, KKR Chord Fund, and the other parties to the Kobalt Music Transaction were 

required to submit HSR filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all 

required information, and to observe the statutory period before they could consummate the 

Kobalt Music Transaction. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Chord Fund violated the 

premerger notification requirements of the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR filing for the 

Kobalt Music Transaction that contained documents altered prior to submission. 

94. On September 3, 2021, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an 

HSR filing on behalf of KKR Chord Fund for the proposed acquisition of Kobalt Music, a music 

rights portfolio company, for about $1.1 billion (HSR filing no. 2021-3222). The Kobalt Music 

acquisition closed on October 15, 2021. 

95. Further investigation later revealed that KKR Chord Fund altered two Item 4 

documents to delete two pages each prior to submitting these documents with this HSR filing. 

The deleted pages included details about KKR’s strategy to subsequently roll up other music 

rights portfolio companies, as well as anticipated deal pipeline and valuation analysis. Complete 

unaltered versions of these documents were not produced to the Antitrust Division until 
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November 2023. This HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as KKR Chord Fund has failed to file 

a corrective HSR filing for this Transaction to date. 

COUNT 7 
KKR’S SEVENTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: JOHN LAING 

96. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

97. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR DCIF Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 7. 

98. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR DCIF Fund, the John Laing Transaction, 

and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification pursuant to 

the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment Managers, KKR 

DCIF Fund, and the other parties to the John Laing Transaction were required to submit HSR 

filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all required information, and to 

observe the statutory period before they could consummate the John Laing Transaction. The 

KKR Investment Managers and KKR DCIF Fund violated the premerger notification 

requirements of the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR filing for the John Laing 

Transaction that contained a document altered prior to submission. 

99. On June 3, 2021, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an HSR 

filing on behalf of KKR DCIF Fund for the proposed acquisition of John Laing, an international 

investment company, for about $2.8 billion (HSR filing no. 2021-2229). The John Laing 

acquisition closed on September 22, 2021. 

100. Further investigation later revealed that KKR DCIF Fund altered one Item 4 

document by deleting five pages in their entirety and selected text from two other pages prior to 

submitting this document with this HSR filing. The deleted content included analyses of 

valuation, deal rationale, investment returns, and post-merger plans. A complete unaltered 
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version of this document was not produced to the Antitrust Division until November 2023. This 

HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as KKR DCIF Fund has failed to file a corrective HSR 

filing for this Transaction to date. 

COUNT 8 
KKR’S EIGHTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: NEIGHBORLY 

101. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

102. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR North America Fund XIII are 

Defendants to this Count 8. 

103. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR North America Fund XIII, the Neighborly 

Transaction, and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification 

pursuant to the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment 

Managers, KKR North America Fund XIII, and the other parties to the Neighborly Transaction 

were required to submit HSR filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all 

required information, and to observe the statutory period before they could consummate the 

Neighborly Transaction. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR North America Fund XIII 

violated the premerger notification requirements of the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR 

filing for the Neighborly Transaction that contained a document altered prior to submission. 

104. On July 15, 2021, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an 

HSR filing on behalf of KKR North America Fund XIII for the proposed acquisition of 

Neighborly, a franchisor of home servicing brands, for about $2.2 billion (HSR filing no. 2021-

2624). The Neighborly acquisition closed on September 1, 2021. 

105. Further investigation later revealed that KKR North America Fund XIII altered 

one Item 4 document to delete two pages prior to submitting this document with this HSR filing. 

The deleted pages included analyses of valuation and investment returns. A complete unaltered 
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version of this document was not produced to the Antitrust Division until November 2023. This 

HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as KKR North America Fund XIII has failed to file a 

corrective HSR filing for this Transaction to date. 

COUNT 9 
KKR’S NINTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: BARRACUDA 

106. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

107. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Core II Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 9. 

108. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Core II Fund, the Barracuda Transaction, 

and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification pursuant to 

the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment Managers, KKR 

Core II Fund, and the other parties to the Barracuda Transaction were required to submit HSR 

filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all required information, and to 

observe the statutory period before they could consummate the Barracuda Transaction. The KKR 

Investment Managers and KKR Core II Fund violated the premerger notification requirements of 

the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR filing for the Barracuda Transaction that omitted 

responsive documents. 

109. On April 22, 2022, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an 

HSR filing on behalf of KKR Core II Fund for the proposed acquisition of Barracuda, a security 

and data protection solutions provider, for about $3.75 billion (HSR filing no. 2022-2108). This 

HSR filing included seven Item 4 documents. The Barracuda acquisition closed on August 15, 

2022. 

110. Further investigation later revealed that KKR Core II Fund omitted another 19 

documents that should also have been included in this HSR filing. The omitted documents 
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included analyses of competitors, interview reports from industry participant surveys, detailed 

emails to KKR partners analyzing the acquisition and competitive landscape, a KKR partners 

update report, discussion of proposed price increases, churn analysis, customer surveys, market 

size and competitive positioning, and discussion of competitive overlaps between Barracuda and 

other portfolio companies owned by KKR. This HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as KKR 

Core II Fund has failed to file a corrective HSR filing for this Transaction to date. 

COUNT 10 
KKR’S TENTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: THERAPY BRANDS 

111. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

112. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund Thrive are Defendants 

to this Count 10. 

113. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Americas Fund Thrive, the Therapy 

Brands Transaction, and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger 

notification pursuant to the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR 

Investment Managers, KKR Americas Fund Thrive, and the other parties to the Therapy Brands 

Transaction were required to submit HSR filings, certified by an officer, director, or general 

partner, with all required information, and to observe the statutory period before they could 

consummate the Therapy Brands Transaction. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR 

Americas Fund Thrive violated the premerger notification requirements of the HSR Act by 

submitting a deficient HSR filing for the Therapy Brands Transaction that omitted responsive 

documents. 

114. On April 9, 2021, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an HSR 

filing on behalf of KKR Americas Fund Thrive for the proposed acquisition of Therapy Brands, 

a technology solutions provider for behavioral and mental health organizations, for about $1.25 
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billion (HSR filing no. 2021-1693). This HSR filing included six Item 4 documents. The 

Therapy Brands acquisition closed on May 18, 2021. 

115. Further investigation later revealed that KKR Americas Fund Thrive omitted 

another 17 documents that should also have been included in this HSR filing. The omitted 

documents included a different version of the Confidential Information Memorandum report 

submitted with the HSR filing, a later version of a market study submitted with the HSR filing, 

multiple detailed market participant surveys used to prepare analyses for KKR’s Investment 

Committee, KKR partner meeting reports, and an email to a KKR partner analyzing the proposed 

acquisition and competitive dynamics. This HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as KKR 

Americas Fund Thrive has failed to file a corrective HSR filing for this Transaction to date. 

COUNT 11 
KKR’S ELEVENTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: EQUUS I 

116. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

117. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 11. 

118. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Americas Fund, the Equus I Transaction, 

and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification pursuant to 

the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment Managers, KKR 

Americas Fund, and the other parties to the Equus I Transaction were required to submit HSR 

filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all required information, and to 

observe the statutory period before they could consummate the Equus I Transaction. The KKR 

Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund violated the premerger notification requirements 

of the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR filing for the Equus I Transaction that omitted 

responsive documents. 
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119. On July 5, 2022, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an HSR 

filing on behalf of KKR Americas Fund for its first attempted sale of Equus, a government-

funded workforce and job corps services provider, for about $147.5 million (HSR filing no. 

2022-2600). This HSR filing included seven Item 4 documents. This proposed sale of Equus was 

subsequently abandoned after the HSR filings were made. 

120. Further investigation later revealed that KKR Americas Fund omitted another six 

documents that should also have been included in this HSR filing. The omitted documents 

included analyses of competitors, market shares, and bid data including win/loss history. For this 

abandoned Transaction, KKR was in violation of the HSR Act for a period of 30 days after the 

inaccurate and incomplete HSR filing was made. 

COUNT 12 
KKR’S TWELFTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: EQUUS II 

121. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

122. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 12. 

123. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Americas Fund, the Equus II Transaction, 

and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification pursuant to 

the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment Managers, KKR 

Americas Fund, and the other parties to the Equus II Transaction were required to submit HSR 

filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all required information, and to 

observe the statutory period before they could consummate the Equus II Transaction. The KKR 

Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund violated the premerger notification requirements 

of the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR filing for the Equus II Transaction that omitted 

responsive documents. 
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124. On September 30, 2022, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted 

an HSR filing on behalf of KKR Americas Fund for its second attempted sale of Equus for about 

$154 million (HSR filing no. 2022-3141), following on the prior deficient HSR filing for its first 

attempted sale of Equus (HSR filing no. 2022-2600) that omitted six Item 4 documents. This 

HSR filing included three Item 4 documents. The Equus sale closed on November 1, 2022. 

125. Further investigation later revealed that KKR Americas Fund omitted at least one 

other document that should also have been included in this HSR filing. The omitted document 

included an analysis of strategic expansion plans. In addition, several of the documents omitted 

by KKR Americas Fund in its earlier Equus I HSR filing also contained competitive information 

relevant to the parties in the Equus II Transaction that should have been available for the 

Antitrust Division to review in evaluating the Equus II Transaction, had that earlier filing by 

KKR Americas Fund not also been deficient. This HSR Act violation remains ongoing, as KKR 

Americas Fund has failed to file a corrective HSR filing for this Transaction to date. 

COUNT 13 
KKR’S THIRTEENTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: TALENTNEURON 

126. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

127. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Obsidian Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 13. 

128. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Obsidian Fund, the TalentNeuron 

Transaction, and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification 

pursuant to the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment 

Managers, KKR Obsidian Fund, and the other parties to the TalentNeuron Transaction were 

required to submit HSR filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all 

required information, and to observe the statutory period before they could consummate the 
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TalentNeuron Transaction. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Obsidian Fund violated the 

premerger notification requirements of the HSR Act by submitting a deficient HSR filing for the 

TalentNeuron Transaction that omitted responsive documents. 

129. On March 21, 2022, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an 

HSR filing on behalf of KKR Obsidian Fund for the proposed acquisition of TalentNeuron, a 

labor market analytics provider, for about $300 million (HSR filing no. 2022-1877). KKR 

Obsidian Fund submitted two Item 4 documents with its initial HSR filing for TalentNeuron but 

later withdrew and refiled its HSR filing to include two additional documents, including one that 

predated the original filing date and should also have been included originally. The 

TalentNeuron sale was abandoned prior to closing. 

130. Further investigation later revealed that KKR Obsidian Fund omitted from both 

its initial filing and the refiling three other documents that should have been included originally. 

For this abandoned Transaction, KKR Obsidian Fund was in violation of the HSR Act for a 

period of 30 days after the inaccurate and incomplete HSR filing was made. 

COUNT 14 
KKR’S FOURTEENTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: 

MINNESOTA RUBBER 

131. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

132. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund Kestrel are Defendants 

to this Count 14. 

133. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Americas Fund Kestrel, the Minnesota 

Rubber Transaction, and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger 

notification pursuant to the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR 

Investment Managers, KKR Americas Fund Kestrel, and the other parties to the Minnesota 

Rubber Transaction were required to submit HSR filings, certified by an officer, director, or 
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general partner, with all required information, and to observe the statutory period before they 

could consummate the Minnesota Rubber Transaction. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR 

Americas Fund Kestrel violated the premerger notification requirements of the HSR Act by 

submitting a deficient HSR filing for the Minnesota Rubber Transaction that omitted responsive 

documents. 

134. On August 30, 2022, employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted an 

HSR filing on behalf of KKR Americas Fund Kestrel in connection with the proposed sale of 

Minnesota Rubber, a company that manufactures, assembles, distributes, and sells rubber and 

plastic products and related molds and tooling, for about $950 million (HSR filing no. 2022-

2952). This HSR filing included two Item 4 documents. The sale of Minnesota Rubber closed on 

October 27, 2022. 

135. Further investigation revealed that KKR Americas Fund Kestrel omitted two other 

documents that should also have been included in this HSR filing. The omitted documents 

included an email with the subject line “Pricing Power,” as well as analyses of synergies and 

product overlaps between Minnesota Rubber and the buyer. This HSR Act violation remains 

ongoing, as KKR Americas Fund Kestrel has failed to file a corrective HSR filing for this 

Transaction to date. 

COUNT 15 
KKR’S FIFTEENTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: APPLOVIN 

136. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

137. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 15. 

138. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Americas Fund, the Applovin Transaction, 

and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification pursuant to 
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the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment Managers, KKR 

Americas Fund, and the other parties to the Applovin Transaction were required to submit HSR 

filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all required information, and to 

observe the statutory period before they could consummate the Applovin Transaction. The KKR 

Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund violated the premerger notification requirements 

of the HSR Act by failing to timely submit an HSR filing for the Applovin Transaction. 

139. On April 19, 2021, KKR Americas Fund acquired additional voting shares of 

Applovin, an app marketing and monetization software solutions provider, for about $6.9 billion, 

but did not submit an HSR filing prior to consummating this Transaction. On December 3, 2021, 

employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted a corrective HSR filing on behalf of 

KKR Americas Fund for its consummated acquisition of Applovin (HSR filing no. 2022-1068). 

COUNT 16 
KKR’S SIXTEENTH VIOLATION OF THE HSR ACT: ADJUST 

140. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 65 above. 

141. The KKR Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund are Defendants to this 

Count 16. 

142. The KKR Investment Managers, KKR Americas Fund, the Adjust Transaction, 

and the other parties thereto all met the criteria that required premerger notification pursuant to 

the HSR Act and the HSR Act Rules. Because of this, the KKR Investment Managers, KKR 

Americas Fund, and the other parties to the Adjust Transaction were required to submit HSR 

filings, certified by an officer, director, or general partner, with all required information, and to 

observe the statutory period before they could consummate the Adjust Transaction. The KKR 

Investment Managers and KKR Americas Fund violated the premerger notification requirements 

of the HSR Act by failing to timely submit an HSR filing for the Adjust Transaction. 
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143. On April 22, 2021, KKR Americas Fund indirectly acquired Adjust, a mobile 

marketing solutions and analytics provider, for between $376 million and $919 million, but did 

not submit an HSR filing prior to consummating this Transaction. On December 3, 2021, 

employees of the KKR Investment Managers submitted a corrective HSR filing on behalf of 

KKR Americas Fund for its consummated acquisition of Adjust (HSR filing no. 2022-1067). 

VIII. REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

144. Wherefore, Plaintiff requests that the Court: 

a. adjudge and decree that KKR’s conduct in respect of the Transactions 

violated the HSR Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18a; 

b. order KKR to pay to the United States an appropriate civil penalty as 

provided by the HSR Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18a(g)(1), the Federal Civil 

Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act Improvements Act of 2015, Pub. L. 

114-74, § 701 (further amending the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation 

Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461 note), and 16 C.F.R. § 1.98(a); 

c. enjoin KKR from any future violations of the HSR Act; 

d. order such other equitable relief, including but not limited to 

disgorgement, plus interest, to eliminate the unlawful financial gains 

reaped by KKR as a result of its illegal consummation of certain 

Transactions; 

e. grant Plaintiff such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper to redress and prevent recurrence of the alleged violations and to 

dissipate their anticompetitive effects, including structural and behavioral 

relief; and 

f. award Plaintiff its costs of this suit. 
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Dated this 14th day of January 2025. 

Respectfully submitted, 

FOR PLAINTIFF UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: 

DOHA MEKKI 
Acting Assistant Attorney General for Antitrust 

RYAN DANKS 
Director of Civil Enforcement 

CATHERINE K. DICK 
Acting Director of Litigation 

SUZANNE MORRIS 
Deputy Director for Civil Enforcement 
Operations 

AARON HOAG 
Chief, Technology & Digital Platforms Section 

DANIELLE HAUCK 
Assistant Chief, Technology & Digital 
Platforms Section 

ADAM SEVERT 
Assistant Chief, Technology & Digital 
Platforms Section 

S/ David Teslicko 
DAVID TESLICKO 
VITTORIO COTTAFAVI 
MEAGAN GLYNN 
LEAH GRAHAM 
ARSHIA NAJAFI 
Trial Attorneys 

United States Department of Justice 
Antitrust Division 
Technology & Digital Platforms Section 
450 Fifth Street N.W., Suite 7100 
Washington, DC 20530 
Telephone: (202) 307-0128 
Email: David.Teslicko@usdoj.gov 

Attorneys for the United States 
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